Filed 12-27-2022

Page 1 of 24

FILED 12-27-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

# STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS – DISTRICT III CASE NO. 2022AP000647 – CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ANTHONY J. LAROSE,

Defendant-Appellant.

On appeal from a judgment of conviction and order denying postconviction relief, both entered in the Oneida County Circuit Court, the Honorable Patrick F. O'Melia, presiding.

#### BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Megan Sanders-Drazen State Bar No. 1097296

Wisconsin Defense Initiative 411 West Main Street, Suite 204 Madison, WI 53703 megan@widefense.org (608) 620-4881

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

#

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

In 2009, Judge Patrick O'Melia sentenced Anthony LaRose in a misdemeanor case. He imposed six months' jail, commenting that prison time seemed inevitable should Mr. LaRose face sentencing on a felony. Judge O'Melia also opined that the State should have charged Mr. LaRose as a repeater, implying that he considered prison time appropriate then and there.

Years later, Judge O'Melia sentenced Mr. LaRose again, this time for a felony. Before sentencing, he independently investigated Mr. LaRose's juvenile and adult records. Then, the morning of sentencing, he presided over a divorce involving a woman who'd had a child with Mr. LaRose while both were married to others. Judge O'Melia repeatedly remarked on the divorce at Mr. LaRose's sentencing, speculating that it was in part Mr. LaRose's fault and that the couple might be his victims. Judge O'Melia also voiced his wholly negative view of Mr. LaRose, criticizing not just his criminal conduct, but also his personality and lifestyle.

On this record, would a reasonable person have questioned whether Judge O'Melia was acting as a neutral and detached magistrate when he imposed sentence on Mr. LaRose?

The circuit court answered "no."

# STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Mr. LaRose does not request oral argument or publication.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This motion revolves around Mr. LaRose's sentencing hearing—what Judge O'Melia said, did, and relied upon in making his sentencing decision. The broader factual and procedural picture is largely irrelevant. Thus, what follows is an overview of the case centered on Judge O'Melia's sentencing remarks.

The State charged Mr. LaRose with one count of first-degree sexual assault of a child. (1:1). The complaint alleged that Mr. LaRose's nine-year-old stepdaughter accused him of sexually assaulting her, and that Mr. LaRose promptly confessed. (1:1-2). It also said that police obtained incriminating evidence while searching Mr. LaRose's home. (1:2).

Mr. LaRose pleaded guilty to an amended charge, and the parties agreed to jointly recommend 14 to 17 years of initial confinement followed by 20 years of extended supervision. (16:1, 3).

At sentencing, after the parties' arguments and Mr. LaRose's allocution, Judge O'Melia listed the considerations relevant to his decision. Then he discussed them in depth.

He began with Mr. LaRose's "past criminal record." (49:27; App. 18). He noted that, while "counsel probably can't," he was "able to go back to [Mr. LaRose's] juvenile records." (49:27; App. 18). He then described an incident in which Mr. LaRose allegedly "hit ... or pushed [a] teacher," causing police to respond. (49:27; App. 18). Judge O'Melia commented that, due to this incident, Mr. LaRose's record "started very young,

Case 2022AP000647 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-27-2022 Page 8 of 24

younger than [he'd] actually ever seen." (49:27; App. 18). "Usually it'll start off as a CHIPS case or something like that," Judge O'Melia explained, "but here [Mr. LaRose was] involved in delinquent behavior." (49:27; App. 18).

Judge O'Melia then moved on to Mr. LaRose's adult record. After summarizing Mr. LaRose's criminal convictions, he opined: "as I read the complaints going back, it's a lot of the same behavior, just a different age." (49:27-28; App. 18-19).

As for Mr. LaRose's varied employment history, Judge O'Melia remarked that "it's not very prosocial these different types of employment." (49:30; App. 21). He then admonished Mr. LaRose: "You're not able to really keep a stable lifestyle for the family ... to the point where you ultimately began taking care of the children in lieu of working and [you] allow[ed] your wife to work and be the breadwinner." (49:30; App. 21).

Next Judge O'Melia discussed the "undesirable" conduct he believed Mr. LaRose had engaged in, whether prosecuted for it or not. (49:31; App. 22). First he noted that, while "it's not against the law to sit at home all day and eat potato chips and play video games, ... that's an undesirable behavior pattern. And in this case we've kind [of] got that, but it's kind of aggravated with smoking dope and having kids in the house." (49:31; App. 22). He also disapproved of Mr. LaRose's sexual behavior, saying: "[Y]ou ... have ... some very strong sexual addictions to the point where you've been unfaithful to your wife on more than one occasion, [and] fathered a child with another married woman." (49:32-33; App. 23-24).

Case 2022AP000647 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-27-2022 Page 9 of 24

In fact, Judge O'Melia noted, he had seen that "married women" in court that very morning when, coincidentally, he presided over her divorce. (49:33; App. 24). "And I had to ask her about" her son, he continued, "because I wanted to make sure that the dad in that case knew that somebody else had fathered the child. Well, anyway, he did." (49:33; App. 24). Judge O'Melia concluded by opining that the divorce may not have been "a direct result of what happened" between the woman and Mr. LaRose, but their child in common could not have helped: "Having that, always waking up to that every day, being reminded that your wife was unfaithful ...." (49:33; App. 24).

Eventually Judge O'Melia turned to Mr. LaRose's personality, deeming him manipulative and narcissistic (though he conceded he wasn't sure Mr. LaRose met the definition of narcissistic). (49:33-34; App. 24-25). He also discussed the victim in this case, and the collateral damage Mr. LaRose's offense likely caused beyond the victim. (49:36-43; App. 27-34). Returning to the divorce he'd presided over, Judge O'Melia asked: "[G]eez, are they a victim of what happened or what you do, you know? Because of your undesirable behavior patterns is that [other woman] a victim?" (49:41; App. 32). Finally, he summarized his views on Mr. LaRose by describing him as "a 34-year-old narcissist with ... a ninth grade education with ... sporadic employment [and a] long criminal history, [who] smokes dope almost every day while he's in charge of the children," and who has "an insatiable appetite for sex of any kind, with anyone, even the daughter." (49:43; App. 34).

Case 2022AP000647 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-27-2022 Page 10 of 24

The circuit court imposed 25 years of initial confinement followed by 20 years of extended supervision. (40:1). Thus, Mr. LaRose received about a decade more incarceration than the parties had jointly requested. (*See* 16:3).

Postconviction, Mr. LaRose pointed out that this was not the first time he'd been sentenced by Judge O'Melia. (73:4). In 2009, Judge O'Melia presided over his sentencing after revocation in Oneida County Case No. 09-CM-613. (73:18-23; App. 45-50). During that hearing, Judge O'Melia told Mr. LaRose his conduct had reached "a point where [judges] almost don't care what you do." (73:21; App. 48). He continued: "We'll just keep putting you in jail and put you ultimately in prison because that's where you're headed. They should have cited you with a repeater.... [And] if this continues and there's a felony, boy ... I'm not sure how another court could really keep you from prison. And you're not too far from a felony." (73:21-22; App. 48-49).

On this record, Mr. LaRose moved for resentencing before a different judge, citing the appearance of judicial bias. (73:7-8). If that relief was denied, Mr. LaRose also sought simple resentencing, arguing that Judge O'Melia erroneously exercised his discretion by relying on an improper factor (Mr. LaRose's gender). (73:15-16).

Judge O'Melia heard Mr. LaRose's postconviction motion and rejected both claims. (*See* 85). He held that there was no appearance of bias found that he had not relied on Mr. LaRose's gender. (86:5-7, 13-14; App. 5-7, 13-14). Mr. LaRose appeals only the first ruling.

Case 2022AP000647 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-27-2022 Page 11 of 24

#### **ARGUMENT**

The totality of the circumstances surrounding Mr. LaRose's sentencing would give a reasonable person doubts about Judge O'Melia's neutrality. The record thus establishes the appearance of judicial bias.

#### A. Overview of argument.

Judge O'Melia's statements at Mr. LaRose's 2009 sentencing after revocation revealed that he prejudged the need for prison time here. Judge O'Melia's sua sponte inquiry into Mr. LaRose's juvenile and criminal records showed that he did not approach this sentencing impartially. And Judge O'Melia's sweeping expressions of antipathy toward Mr. LaRose underscored what his prejudgment and independent factual investigation had already demonstrated: he was not acting as a neutral and detached magistrate when he sentenced Mr. LaRose to 45 years of imprisonment.

The totality of the circumstances surrounding Mr. LaRose's sentencing would lead a reasonable person to question whether Judge O'Melia was able to "hold the balance nice, clear, and true." *See State v. Gudgeon*, 2006 WI App 143, ¶24, 295 Wis. 2d 189, 720 N.W.2d 114. The appearance of judicial bias at Mr. LaRose's sentencing violated due process, and he asks this Court to grant him resentencing before a different judge. *See State v. Goodson*, 2009 WI App 107, ¶¶8, 18, 320 Wis. 2d 166, 771 N.W.2d 385.

Case 2022AP000647 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-27-2022 Page 12 of 24

B. Basic legal principles and standard of review.

Every defendant has a due process right to an impartial sentencing court. *Id.*, ¶8. While a court is presumed to act impartially, a defendant can overcome that presumption by showing bias by a preponderance of the evidence. *Gudgeon*, 295 Wis. 2d 189, ¶20. If a defendant meets that burden—which an appellate court determines independently, as a matter of law—"the error is structural and not subject to a harmless error analysis." *Id.*; *see also Goodson*, 320 Wis. 2d 166, ¶7. In other words, a defendant sentenced by a biased judge is automatically entitled to be resentenced by someone else. *See Goodson*, 320 Wis. 2d 166, ¶18.

There are two basic categories of judicial bias that can necessitate resentencing: objective and subjective. *Id.*, ¶8. This case involves objective bias. There are also two types of objective bias: actual bias and the appearance thereof. *Id.*, ¶¶9, 14. The appearance of bias is the constitutional defect at issue. It exists whenever a sentencing court makes statements that would lead a reasonable person, "taking into consideration human psychological tendencies and weaknesses," to conclude the judge "cannot be trusted" to remain neutral. *Gudgeon*, 295 Wis. 2d 189, ¶24.

One recurring appearance-of-bias issue arises when a judge's on-the-record comments show they prejudged the defendant's sentence, at least in part, before hearing the parties' arguments or the defendant's allocution. *See generally, State v. Marcotte,* 2020 WI App

Case 2022AP000647 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-27-2022 Page 13 of 24

28, ¶¶20-27, 392 Wis. 2d 183, 943 N.W.2d 911. Another longstanding and interrelated pair of bias problems occurs when a judge's on-the-record comments reveal an opinion formed from facts outside the record, and the opinion betrays "such a high degree of ... antagonism" toward the defendant that "fair judgment [becomes] impossible." *See Liteky v. United States*, 510 U.S. 540, 555 (1994). While precedent does not set forth the universe of scenarios in which a reasonable person would question a judge's neutrality, Judge O'Melia's sentencing comments gave rise to both of these well-known bias problems.

C. Judge O'Melia's statements at Mr. LaRose's 2009 sentencing after revocation suggest he prejudged the need for prison time.

At Mr. LaRose's 2009 sentencing after revocation, Judge O'Melia told Mr. LaRose: "We'll just keep putting you in jail and put you in prison because that's where you're headed." (73:21; App. 48).He then commented that the State should have charged Mr. LaRose as a repeater, suggesting he wanted to put Mr. LaRose in prison that very day. And he concluded by noting that he didn't see how a judge sentencing Mr. LaRose for a felony could do anything but imprison him. These onthe-record remarks showed that Judge O'Melia had predetermined the necessity of prison should Mr. LaRose eventually face sentencing for a felony.

The case law governing prejudgment clarifies the due process problem here. *Gudgeon* is a helpful starting point. There, a probation agent wrote the circuit court advising against extending the defendant's probation and recommending that the defendant's unpaid

Case 2022AP000647 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-27-2022 Page 14 of 24

restitution be converted into a civil judgment. *Gudgeon*, 295 Wis. 2d 189, ¶3. The circuit court wrote a note at the bottom of the agent's letter: "No—I want his probation extended." *Id.* It then sent a copy of the annotated letter to the probation agent, the State, and defense counsel. *Id.* Later, it followed through and extended the defendant's probation. *Id.*, ¶4. The court of appeals ordered resentencing before a different judge, holding: "Although we may be convinced that the circuit court was not prejudging the extension [of probation] issue, that is not the test. The risk of bias that the ordinary reasonable person would discern—which is the test—is simply too great to comport with constitutional due process." *Id.*, ¶30.

Later cases have reaffirmed the *Gudgeon* approach. In Goodson, the defendant was convicted of five crimes with an array of dispositions: a prison sentence, jail time, and consecutive probation. 320 Wis. 2d 166, ¶2. The sentencing judge told the defendant that, should he get revoked from probation or extended supervision, he would "be given the maximum, period." Id. But when the defendant was in fact revoked from extended supervision, the judge ordered time served. *Id.*, ¶4. It was only at the defendant's second reconfinement hearing that the judge made good on his promise, imposing the maximum and telling the defendant, "that's the agreement you and I had back at the time you were sentenced." Id., ¶5. The court of appeals held that "[t]here could not be a more explicit statement confirming that the sentence was predecided." *Id.*, ¶16.

State v. Lamb, an unpublished decision citable for its persuasive value, 1 provides yet another example of prejudgment. 2018 WI App 66, 384 Wis. 2d 414, 921 N.W.2d 522 (unpublished op.).2 There the circuit court became aware, just prior to sentencing, that the parties intended to jointly recommend probation. *Id.*, ¶5. But it made comments, during a discussion with the defendant, indicating that it was unlikely to follow that recommendation. Id., ¶5. In particular, after the defendant said it was possible he'd go home that day, the circuit court said, "there's a possibility, but it's probably not going to happen." Id. The court of appeals held this response impermissible. Id., ¶14. It noted that the comment preceded the parties' arguments and the defendant's allocution—information critical to the circuit court's sentencing decision. *Id.*, ¶15. And it rejected the State's contention that the circuit court "spoke only of probabilities and possibilities." Id., ¶17. Taken together, the court of appeals held, the circuit court's comments "reasonably conveyed ... that, before [it] had heard any sentencing arguments, it had effectively decided against ordering probation." *Id.* There was no need for the circuit court to use more definitive language to violate due process.

Finally, *Marcotte* offers the most recent appearance-of-bias guidance. The defendant in *Marcotte* was placed on probation with participation in drug court as a condition. 392 Wis. 2d 183, ¶3. Both before and at sentencing, the circuit court told the defendant he'd go

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See Wis. Stat. § 809.23(3)(b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> A copy of this unpublished opinion is included in the appendix as required by Wis. Stat. § 809.23(3)(c); (App. 53-57).

Case 2022AP000647 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-27-2022 Page 16 of 24

to prison if he did not succeed in drug court. *Id.*, ¶¶4-5. After he relapsed and had his probation revoked, the defendant was sentenced after revocation, and the circuit court imposed ten years' imprisonment. *Id.*, ¶¶8-10. On appeal, the defendant argued that the circuit court's comments about prison, along with its dual role the drug court and presiding over sentencing proceedings, created the appearance of bias. *Id.*, ¶¶14, 18. The court of appeals agreed. It held that the circuit court's comments showed it had already rejected alternative dispositions (like time served, a fine, or a jail sentence) before it reached the sentencing after revocation hearing. Id., ¶26. Its premature decision to impose some amount of prison violated due process and necessitated resentencing by a different judge. *Id.*, ¶41.

Here, Judge O'Melia stated on the record at Mr. LaRose's 2009 sentencing after revocation that he didn't see how a future judge could decline to imprison Mr. LaRose should he eventually face sentencing for a felony. In making this comment, Judge O'Melia revealed what the disposition would likely be if he personally sentenced Mr. LaRose for a felony. As in *Lamb*, where the circuit court said probation was "probably not going to happen," Judge O'Melia did not express certainty—but did reveal that he'd prejudged Mr. LaRose's sentence. *See* 384 Wis. 2d 414, ¶5; (App. 54).

Judge O'Melia also commented, at Mr. LaRose's 2009 sentencing after revocation, that he "should have" been charged as a repeater (presumably because that would have made a prison sentence possible). This statement resembles the *Gudgeon* court's statement

Case 2022AP000647 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-27-2022 Page 17 of 24

that it "want[ed]" the defendant's probation extended. 295 Wis. 2d 189, ¶26. "Neutral and disinterested tribunals do not 'want' any particular outcome." *Id*. Thus, they do not opine about what charging decisions they would have preferred.

Both by revealing his desire to impose prison and opining that a prison sentence was almost guaranteed at any future felony sentencing, Judge O'Melia exhibited objective bias. "[A] reasonable person familiar with human nature knows that average individuals sitting as judges would probably follow their inclination to rule consistently rather than against their personal desires." *Id.* Thus, Judge O'Melia "reasonably conveyed ... that, before [he] had heard any sentencing arguments, [he] had effectively decided against" imposing probation, jail time, or a fine. *Lamb*, 384 Wis. 2d 414, ¶17; (App. 56). Such prejudgment offends due process. *See Marcotte*, 392 Wis. 2d 183, ¶¶26, 41.

D. Judge O'Melia's independent inquiry into Mr. LaRose's record suggests a departure from his role as a neutral and detached magistrate.

While no party submitted them for consideration or referenced them at any point, Judge O'Melia sought out, and reviewed, Mr. LaRose's juvenile records and past criminal complaints. Judge O'Melia thus conducted an independent factual investigation instead of relying solely on the more limited facts of record. In doing so, he violated the longstanding tenet that "[a] judge must not independently investigate facts in a case and must

Case 2022AP000647 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-27-2022 Page 18 of 24

consider only the evidence presented." SCR 60:04(g) (comment). He also failed to give the parties the chance to respond to the facts outside the record on which he relied. In both ways, he violated Mr. LaRose's due process rights.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court discussed an analogous situation in a judicial disciplinary proceeding that resulted in a judge's five-day suspension. See Judicial Commission v. Piontek, 2019 WI 51, 386 Wis. 2d 703, 927 N.W.2d 552. Before sentencing, the judge "conducted an independent internet investigation" that revealed "what he believed to be incriminating information" about the defendant. Id., ¶16. That information turned out to be incorrect. *Id.*, ¶18. However, the parties were unable to correct the judge's misconceptions because he "did not provide the parties or their attorneys with ... notice of his intent to conduct his investigation or the nature of his investigation and its results." Id., ¶17. The defendant was ultimately granted resentencing on the grounds that the sentencing court relied on inaccurate information, violating due process. Id., ¶20. The Judicial Conduct Panel, meanwhile, ordered a suspension, citing *Judicial* Commission v. Calvert to support its decision. See 2018 WI 68, 382 Wis. 2d 354, 914 N.W.2d 765.

In *Calvert*, a circuit court commissioner conducted an independent factual investigation, "which included engaging in ex parte communication," and made "false statements to the parties that any further calls to police about their dispute would result in disorderly conduct tickets." *Piontek*, 386 Wis. 2d 703, ¶34. The Judicial Conduct Panel determined that a 15-day suspension was

Case 2022AP000647 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-27-2022 Page 19 of 24

necessary because the commissioner's misconduct was "undeniably serious." *Calvert*, 382 Wis. 2d 354, ¶26. The Wisconsin Supreme Court agreed: "[A] judge's objectivity and impartiality are critical to the proper functioning of the judicial system," it held, and the commissioner in question was "far from objective and impartial." *Id*. His bias was evidenced by a range of misconduct, including that "[h]e independently investigated the facts of a case pending before him." *Id*.

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