FILED 03-10-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT III

Case No. 2022AP647-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ANTHONY J. LAROSE,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND SENTENCE AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN ONEIDA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE PATRICK F. O'MELIA, PRESIDING

PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

SARA LYNN SHAEFFER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1087785

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

LaRose failed to rebut the presumption that the judge acted impartially at his sentencing hearing.

LaRose contends that two types of recognized objective bias were present in his case: (1) the judge's on-the-record comments show that he prejudged LaRose's sentence; and (2) the judge's on-the-record comments reveal that he formed an opinion from facts outside the record reflecting a high degree of antagonism toward LaRose. (LaRose's Br. 11–13.) As will be demonstrated below, LaRose fails to prove either claim of bias.

A. A defendant asserting judicial bias must overcome the presumption that judges act impartially.

"A fair trial in a fair tribunal is a basic requirement of due process." B.J.M., 392 Wis. 2d 49, ¶ 21 (citation omitted). This Court "presume[s] that a judge has acted fairly, impartially, and without bias." Id. "A defendant may rebut the presumption by showing that the appearance of bias reveals a great risk of actual bias." Herrmann, 364 Wis. 2d 336, ¶ 3.

Courts recognize two types of judicial bias: subjective and objective. B.J.M., 392 Wis. 2d 49, ¶ 21. Subjective bias is based on the judge's own determination that he or she cannot act impartially. Id. Objective bias occurs when there is a "serious risk of actual bias—based on objective and reasonable perceptions." Id. ¶ 22 (quoting $Caperton\ v.\ A.T.\ Massey\ Coal\ Co.$, 556 U.S. 868, 884 (2009)).² Under the objective test, the question is "whether a reasonable person

13

² LaRose makes only an objective, not a subjective, bias claim. (R. 86:4–5; LaRose's Br. 12.)

Case 2022AP000647 Brief of Respondent Filed 03-10-2023 Page 14 of 26

could question the judge's impartiality." Gudgeon, 295 Wis. 2d 189, ¶ 21.

Relying on Goodson, 320 Wis. 2d 166, LaRose asserts that there are two types of objective bias: the appearance of bias and actual bias. (LaRose's Br. 12.) However, several post-Goodson decisions reveal a disagreement over the proper formulation of the test for objective bias. In *Herrmann*, the lead opinion used the phrase "appearance of bias." 364 Wis. 2d 336, ¶ 40. Four of the court's members in two separate concurrences took issue with the "appearance of bias" standard. Id. ¶ 108 (Prosser, J., concurring); Id. ¶¶ 114, 157– 59 (Ziegler, J., concurring). More recently, relying on Caperton, 556 U.S. 868, a majority of the court in B.J.M. defined the question as "whether there is 'a serious risk of actual bias—based on objective and reasonable perceptions." B.J.M., 392 Wis. 2d 49, ¶ 24 & n.18 (citation omitted). But one member of the majority advocated for the "appearance of bias" framework articulated in *Herrmann*. *Id.* ¶¶ 38–63 (Bradley, J., concurring). Three justices in dissent rejected the "appearance of bias" framework. Id. ¶ 114 (Hagedorn, J., dissenting).

Regardless of the continued viability of the "appearance of bias" framework, the party asserting judicial bias under either framework must demonstrate a "serious risk of actual bias." *Id.* ¶ 22; *Herrmann*, 364 Wis. 2d 336, ¶¶ 35–36. A judge's statements and conduct suggesting that a judge has prejudged a sentence may demonstrate a serious risk of actual bias that violates due process. *State v. Marcotte*, 2020 WI App 28, ¶ 21, 392 Wis. 2d 183, 943 N.W.2d 911.

LaRose also argues that "[a]nother longstanding and interrelated pair of bias problems occurs when a judge's onthe-record comments reveal an opinion formed from facts outside the record, and the opinion betrays 'such a high degree of . . . antagonism' toward the defendant that 'fair

Case 2022AP000647 Brief of Respondent Filed 03-10-2023 Page 15 of 26

judgment [becomes] impossible.' See Liteky v. United States, 510 U.S. 540, 555 (1994)." (LaRose's Br. 13.)

Liteky does discuss judicial remarks and bias, but in full it says the following:

First, judicial rulings alone almost never constitute a valid basis for a bias or partiality motion. In and of themselves (i.e., apart from surrounding comments or accompanying opinion), they cannot possibly show reliance upon an extrajudicial source; and can only in the rarest circumstances evidence the degree of favoritism or antagonism required (as discussed below) when no extrajudicial source is involved. Almost invariably, they are proper grounds for appeal, not for recusal. Second, opinions formed by the judge on the basis of facts introduced or events occurring in the course of the current proceedings, or of prior proceedings, do not constitute a basis for a bias or partiality motion unless they display a deepseated favoritism or antagonism that would make fair judgment impossible. Thus, judicial remarks during the course of a trial that are critical or disapproving of, or even hostile to, counsel, the parties, or their cases, ordinarily do not support a bias or partiality challenge. They may do so if they reveal an opinion that derives from an extrajudicial source; and they will do so if they reveal such a high degree of favoritism or antagonism as to make fair judgment impossible.

Liteky v. United States, 510 U.S. 540, 555 (1994) (citation omitted). Thus, Liteky makes clear that even a judge's hostile remarks "do not support a bias or partiality challenge" unless the remarks display a "deep-seated" antagonism. Id.

B. The judge's statements during LaRose's 2009 sentencing after revocation do not show prejudgment in his current sentencing.

LaRose first argues that the judge's remarks during LaRose's sentencing after revocation in 2009 suggests "he prejudged the need for prison time" in the present case. (LaRose's Br. 11, 13.) This argument fails.

First, nowhere in his appellate brief does LaRose recognize that the judge expressly addressed and rejected this argument. As noted above, at the postconviction hearing the judge informed the parties it did not remember the 2009 case until it read LaRose's postconviction motion and attached exhibit. (R. 86:11.) Because the judge had "no recollection" of the 2009 case, the judge was "not sure how that would have affected my decision-making process when I sentenced Mr. LaRose" in 2022. (R. 86:13.) Not remembering the 2009 case makes it impossible for the judge to prejudge LaRose's current sentence on that basis.

Second, the court's factual finding that it had "no recollection" of LaRose's 2009 case is a factual finding that this Court owes deference unless clearly erroneous. *State v. Wiskerchen*, 2019 WI 1, ¶ 17, 385 Wis. 2d 120, 921 N.W.2d 730. LaRose, by failing to even recognize the court's decision, does not argue that the factual finding is clearly erroneous.

Third, despite his experience with this same circuit court judge in 2009, LaRose was apparently satisfied with the assignment of the judge, because he never requested a substitute judge.

But LaRose argues that *Gudgeon*, 295 Wis. 2d 189, *Goodson*, 320 Wis. 2d 166, *State v. Lamb*, 2018 WI App 66, 384 Wis. 2d 414, 921 N.W. 2d 522 (unpublished) (R-App. 3–8), and *Marcotte*, 392 Wis. 2d 183, support his claim that the

Case 2022AP000647 Brief of Respondent Filed 03-10-2023 Page 17 of 26

court prejudged his case and that there was an appearance of bias. These cases are inapposite.

In Gudgeon, 295 Wis. 2d 189, ¶ 26, which concerned a probation extension decision, the judge stated in a note to the parties, "I want his probation extended." This statement signified the judge's personal desire for a particular outcome, such that a reasonable person would discern a great risk that the court "had already made up its mind to extend probation long before the extension hearing took place." *Id.* Similarly, in Goodson, the circuit court promised to sentence Goodson to the maximum period of time if he violated his supervision rules. *Goodson*, 320 Wis. 2d 166, ¶ 13. This Court ruled that a reasonable person would conclude that a judge would intend to keep such a promise—that the judge had made up his mind about Goodson's sentence before the reconfinement hearing. Id. This constituted objective bias. Id. In Lamb, the parties recommended probation. Despite that recommendation, the court told the defendant, prior to hearing arguments on sentencing, that "there's a possibility [you'll go home today], but it's probably not going to happen." Lamb, 384 Wis. 2d 414, ¶ 5. (R-App. 5.) This Court held that the court's comments revealed a serious risk of actual bias because a reasonable lay observer would interpret them as prejudging Lamb's sentence. Id. ¶ 14. (R-App. 6.) Finally, in Marcotte, 392 Wis. 2d 183, ¶ 19, the judge told Marcotte before sentencing after revocation that he would be sentenced to prison if he did not succeed in drug court. This Court concluded that the judge's statement, in conjunction with another factor, gave "rise to a great risk of actual bias." *Id.* ¶ 18.

None of the scenarios seen in *Gudgeon*, *Goodson*, *Lamb*, or *Marcotte* happened here. In this case, the unrefuted record shows that the judge had no recollection of LaRose's prior sentencing from a decade prior, that the judge made no comments about that prior sentencing during LaRose's current sentencing, and that the judge had not prejudged

LaRose's sentence. The judge's remarks do not amount to a "high degree" or "deep-seated" "antagonism as to make fair judgment impossible." *Liteky*, 510 U.S. at 555.

For the above reasons, LaRose fails to show that the judge prejudged the need for prison time or exhibited objective bias.

C. The judge's inquiry into LaRose's record does not show objective bias that implicates his due process rights.

LaRose next argues that the judge's inquiry into his record "suggests a departure from his role as a neutral and detached magistrate." (LaRose's Br. 17.) The State disagrees.

At the sentencing hearing, the judge said that it looked at juvenile records related to an incident in which LaRose hit or pushed a teacher, resulting in the police being called. (R. 49:27.) LaRose contends that the judge's investigation of his juvenile record violated the Code of Judicial Conduct's prohibition against independent investigation, that the judge failed to provide the parties with an opportunity to respond, and, therefore, the judge violated his due process rights. (LaRose's Br. 17–19.)

For several reasons, this Court should reject LaRose's efforts to transform what he perceives to be a violation of the Code of Judicial Conduct ("the Code") into a judicial bias claim implicating his due process rights. While the Code is intended "to provide guidance to judges . . . [and] a structure for regulating conduct," its Preamble *cautions* against the kind of use that LaRose makes of it in this case. The Preamble provides: "the purpose of the Code would be subverted if the Code were invoked by lawyers or litigants for mere tactical advantage in a proceeding." SCR Chapter 60, "Preamble." Indeed, even if a judge's actions in a specific case violate the Code, that alone may not be dispositive of whether any litigant in the underlying case is entitled to relief. *Cf. State v.*

Case 2022AP000647 Brief of Respondent Filed 03-10-2023 Page 19 of 26

Cooper, 2019 WI 73, ¶ 22, 387 Wis. 2d 439, 929 N.W.2d 192 (explaining that the fact that a lawyer violated Supreme Court Rules when representing a client did not mean, ipso facto, that the client was entitled to relief in his underlying case).

Furthermore, while SCR 60.04(g) prohibits courts from engaging in *ex parte* communications, it does *not* expressly prohibit a judge from conducting an independent investigation. Rather, a comment following SCR 60.04(g) provides, "A judge must not independently investigate facts in a case and must consider only the evidence presented." But as the Preamble cautions, "[t]he Commentary is not intended as a statement of additional rules." Thus, the comment upon which LaRose relies on is no rule at all, and is an inadequate basis for a due process claim grounded in judicial bias.

LaRose nonetheless relies on two judicial discipline cases, *Judicial Commission v. Piontek*, 2019 WI 51, 386 Wis. 2d 703, 927 N.W.2d 552, and *Judicial Commission v. Calvert*, 2018 WI 68, 382 Wis. 2d 354, 914 N.W.2d 765, to advance his claim. (LaRose's Br. 18–19.) But the judge's conduct here is nothing like the conduct that occurred in either case.

In *Piontek*, a judge conducted his own online investigation of a criminal defendant's nursing credentials because he did not believe that the defendant had been truthful in her comments to the presentence investigation writer. *Piontek*, 386 Wis. 2d 703, ¶ 18. In the underlying case that formed the basis for disciplinary action, the defendant moved for resentencing because the information was inaccurate. *Id.* ¶ 19. This Court reversed the judge's order denying the defendant's postconviction motion because the record demonstrated that the judge relied on the misinformation, thus depriving the defendant of her right to be sentenced based on accurate information. *Id.* ¶ 20. In the disciplinary action, the supreme court determined that the

judge violated his duty of neutrality by conducting an independent investigation and by failing to allow the defendant to respond to the inaccurate allegations. Id. ¶ 37.

Unlike in *Piontek*, LaRose has not suggested that the juvenile record information that the judge considered was inaccurate. Indeed, his limited research about LaRose's conduct as a juvenile merely confirms the far more detailed information that LaRose's mother provided about the incident to the PSI agent.³ (Compare R. 20:10 with R. 49:27.) And, at sentencing LaRose did not dispute that the information his mother provided about the incident was inaccurate. (R. 49:3, 16–18.) Notably, the judge characterized much of the information that LaRose's mother provided as "mitigating." (R. 49:7.) Finally, the judge did not engage in conduct like that seen in *Piontek*, where the judge characterized the defendant's attempt to explain the outside information as "lies," suggested that she should "close [her] mouth," and told her not to comment further about the matter. 386 Wis. 2d 703. ¶ 18. By contrast, here the judge did not react negatively to LaRose when he interjected that the juvenile incident occurred in Rock County. (R. 49:27.) The judge's conduct does not reveal the kind of loss of impartiality or bias that prompted discipline in *Piontek*. 386 Wis. 2d 703, \P ¶ 14, 22, 29.

Calvert is also of no help to LaRose. In *Calvert*, the supreme court disciplined a court commissioner in an injunction case who engaged in *ex parte* communications by contacting a law enforcement agency and obtaining additional

³ LaRose's mother told the PSI agent that LaRose's first contact with the legal system "began around age 8 when he was arrested for battery." (R. 20:10.) She explained that LaRose had "kicked one of his teachers." (R. 20:10.) LaRose's mother also told the PSI agent that LaRose "had behavioral issues while growing up." (R. 20:10.) She enrolled LaRose in "the Sprite Program, described as a 'boot camp', twice before opting to send him to Lincoln Hills" when he was 16 or 17. (R. 20:10.)

Case 2022AP000647 Brief of Respondent Filed 03-10-2023 Page 21 of 26

information about the case. 382 Wis. 2d 354, ¶¶ 17–18, 26. The supreme court noted that the commissioner "lied to the parties in a particularly manipulative manner, falsely claiming that he had communicated with individuals in the judicial and law enforcement systems in such a way that the parties were doomed to failure and future legal troubles should they ever seek additional recourse." Id. ¶ 26. It characterized the commissioner's actions as giving the "impression to the litigants before him that the judge had essentially rigged the judicial and criminal justice systems against them." Piontek, 386 Wis. 2d 703, ¶ 38. The court determined that the commissioner's investigation implicated SCR 60.04(g)'s prohibition against ex parte communications because the court communicated with the police chief about the underlying dispute involved in the litigation. Calvert, 382 Wis. 2d 354, ¶¶ 7–8.

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